
 
Telephone Enquiries: Democratic Services, (01254) 380116/380109/380184 
Email:  memberservices@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 
Published on Tuesday, 12 October 2021 

Page 1 of 2  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Cabinet 
 
Wednesday, 20 October 2021 at 4.00 pm, 
Council Chamber, Town Hall, Accrington 
 
Membership 
 
Chair: Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE (in the Chair) 
 
Councillors Paul Cox, Loraine Cox, Munsif Dad BEM JP and Joyce Plummer 
 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

PART A: PROCEDURAL AND INFORMATION ITEMS 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence   
 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest and Dispensations   
 
 

3.   Minutes of Cabinet  (Pages 3 - 16) 
 
To approve the Minutes of the last meeting of Cabinet held on 15th September 2021. 
 

4.   Minutes of Committees, Boards, Panels and Working Groups  (Pages 17 - 18) 
 
To receive the minutes of the meetings of the following bodies:- 
 

Name of Body Date of Meeting 

Cabinet (Streeet Naming) Committee 15th September 2021 

 

Public Document Pack



Page 2 of 2 

 

 
 

PART B: PORTFOLIO ITEMS 
 

5.   Reports of Cabinet Members   
 
To receive verbal reports from each of the Portfolio Holders, as appropriate. 
 

Portfolio Holder for Regeneration and Wellbeing (Councillor Loraine Cox) 
 

6.   Huncoat Garden Village - Masterplan Framework & Infrastructure Delivery Strategy  
(Pages 19 - 24) 
 
Report attached. 
 

7.   Healthy Weight Declaration  (Pages 25 - 38) 
 
Report attached. 
 

PART C: EXEMPT ITEMS 
 

Nil 
 
 
 



 

 
1 

 
CABINET 

 

 
Wednesday, 15th September, 2021 

 
Present:  Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE (in the Chair), Councillors Paul Cox (Vice 

Chair), Loraine Cox, Munsif Dad BEM JP and Joyce Plummer 
 

In Attendance: Councillors June Harrison, Marlene Haworth and Michael Miller 

  

 
120 Apologies for Absence 

 
There were no apologies for absence submitted on this occasion. 
 

121 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 
There were no reported declarations of interest or dispensations. 
 

122 Minutes of Cabinet 
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 14th July 2021 were submitted for 
approval as a correct record. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and approved as a 

correct record. 
 

123 Urgent Decisions Taken 
 
In accordance with Executive Procedure Rule B16(c), Members considered a report on the 
following decision taken under the urgency procedure: 
 

No. Decision Heading Portfolio 
Holder 

Date of 
Approval 

(a) Sale of Clayton Civic Hall Councillor 
Loraine Cox 

7th July 2021 

 
The Leader of the Council, Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, reported that the premises had 
been a community hub since the 1960s and was a key facility for the area.  The Council 
had for a long time been considering how to maintain the building as a centre for the 
community and for wellbeing.  At a recent Cabinet Briefing there had been support to 
accommodate existing organisations within the premises, such as Clayton Amateur Boxing 
Club, as well as providing for those organisations displaced by the closure of the Arthur 
Wilson Centre.  To meet those ends, Hyndburn Leisure had stepped up to acquire the site.  
The Council had been pleased to agree to this acquisition. 
 
The site would now been developed as a multi-use space for both charities and businesses.  
It would also support the Leisure Transformation Partnership, with partners working 
together to deliver better health outcomes for residents. 
 
Resolved - To note the report on urgent decisions taken. 
 

124 Reports of Cabinet Members 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

 
There were no verbal reports provided on this occasion. 
 

125 Levelling up Funding Bid - Update 
 
Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, provided an update on the progress of the Levelling Up 
Fund Bid, the commissioning of external consultancy work and the spend to date. 
 
The Leader indicated that the current activities were an important step in enabling the 
Council to submit a bid for around £20M.  The report outlined what had been achieved so 
far and the costs.  He reminded Members that in the Annual Budget the Council had set 
aside £150k to kick-start this work.  The Council had also been designated as a Priority 1 
area, which would attract an additional £120k of funding.  The expenses, as listed in the 
report, had to meet strict criteria. 
 
Consultation was an important stage in the bidding process and the options which emerged 
would be carefully scored on what they were likely to achieve. 
 
Councillor Paul Cox, Deputy Leader of the Council, highlighted the expenditure set out at 
Paragraph 3.1 of the report.  The polling of residents was a particularly important step.  The 
work done so far provided the necessary evidence base to support the bid.   The Council 
had to spend on these items in order to attract in the larger sums provided by the Fund.  
Working with key stakeholders was also essential.  The preparations would need to be 
completed in time for the Government’s Budget, at which time it was anticipated that an 
announcement would be made inviting the 2nd tranche of Levelling Up Fund bids. 
 
Councillor Michael Miller, Joint Deputy Leader of the Conservative Group, asked if the costs 
listed were estimates or actual expenditure.  He referred to the highways projects which 
would be depend on the outcome of the consultations.  The Leader responded that some 
figures were estimates, as work was still in progress.  Atkins, the highways consultants 
used by Lancashire County Council (LCC), had been engaged to carry out the highways 
designs.  Hyndburn’s projects would need to be developed in collaboration with any 
schemes being undertaken by LCC as part of that council’s bid.  It was envisaged that LCC 
would prioritise work across East Lancashire.  This issue had been raised at a recent 
Lancashire Leaders meeting and had been supported by the Leaders of other neighbouring 
East Lancashire authorities. 
 
The Levelling Up Fund bid would sit alongside further work being undertaken to develop a 
Town Centre Investment Plan, which would identify other funding sources for future 
projects. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
The full reasons are set out in the main report, which includes information on the following 
matters: 
 

 Background to the Levelling Up Fund; 

 Appointment of consultants, Bradshaw Advisory Limited (BA) to lead the bidding 

process; 

 Learning from the High Street Fund bid and identifying the town’s strengths; 

 Engaging with a wide range of stakeholders (as listed in the report); 

 The overarching Stakeholder Board and details of its membership; 

Page 4



 
 
 

 

 
3 

 Timings and decision to submit a bid in Round 2; 

 The brief for BA: namely the Levelling Up Fund bid and Town Centre Investment 

Plan; 

 Levelling Up Fund priorities: smaller transport projects; town centre and high street 

regeneration; and cultural and heritage assets; 

 Stakeholder group suggested projects (as listed in the report); 

 Process for developing a Town Centre Investment Plan; and 

 Costs to date. 

 

There were no alternative options considered or reasons proposed for rejection 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet notes the update report on the 

Levelling Up Fund Bid. 
 

126 Public Space Protection Order relating to Dog Control 
 
In accordance with the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access 
to Information (England) Regulations 2012, a notice had been published on 7th September 
2021 under the General Exception Procedure confirming that Councillor Jenny Molineux, 
Chair of the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee had been 
informed that the following key decision was to be made by Cabinet on 15th September 
2021 without publishing details of the decision at least 28 days before the meeting. 
 
Councillor Paul Cox provided a report seeking approval to the making of a Public Spaces 
Protection Order (PSPO) pursuant to section 59 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and 
Policing Act 2014 (“The Act”) relating to dog control within the Borough of Hyndburn. 
 
Councillor P Cox highlighted the main elements of the report, including the relevant 
legislation and reasons for use of a PSPO, consultations undertaken and additional areas 
identified for inclusion in the PSPO (namely Borough sports pitches and the Rose Garden 
in Haworth Park). 
 
Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP, commented that he had discussed dogs being exercised in 
cemeteries with Councillor P Cox.  This was a particularly sensitive issue in relation to the 
Muslim burial plots.  He acknowledged that the majority of dog walkers using the 
cemeteries did behave responsibly by keeping their dogs on leads, but a minority allowed 
their dogs to roam free, which had led to fouling on graves.  This was unacceptable to all 
sections of the community.  Councillor Dad hoped that his concerns would be addressed. 
 
Councillor Marlene Haworth, Leader of the Conservative Group, welcomed the report, 
which was widely supported by the Opposition Group.  She expressed disappointment at 
irresponsible dog owners.  She had witnessed at least three people today in Haworth Park 
whose dogs were not on leads.  She expressed a hope that compliance with the PSPO 
could be monitored effectively.  Councillor Harrison commented that the restrictions in 
Haworth Park applied only to the Rose Garden, as this was used for weddings.  Councillor 
P Cox indicated that the Council employed a dog warden (in-house), but that the relied 
heavily on intelligence from members of the public.  Residents should send their 
observations in to the Council.  Dog walkers tended to be creatures of habit, following a set 
route a set times of the day, so irresponsible owners should be easy to identify.  Any 
infractions would attract a fixed penalty. 
 
Approval of the report was considered to be a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 

Page 5



 
 
 

 

 
4 

 
Legislation relating to Dog Control had changed in 2014 with the introduction of the Anti-
Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014.  The Act superseded The Clean 
Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 in relation to dog control. 
 
The Act required local authorities to use PSPOs instead of dog control orders.  To make a 
PSPO a local authority had to be satisfied that activities carried on in a public place had, or 
were likely to have, a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality (s 59 (2) 
of the Act) and that those activities were unreasonable, likely to persist or continue and 
justified the making of the PSPO. 
 
Officers had taken the view that the statutory conditions were met because: 
 

(i) There were ongoing concerns about dog fouling in the Borough; 

(ii) There had been issues for users of play facilities and bowling greens with dogs 

running around disrupting their activities, jumping up at people and fouling in these 

areas; 

(iii) There had been issues and continued to be issues with dogs off leads running in 

townships causing disruption for shoppers and dogs running into the highway; 

(iv) There were ongoing concerns about dogs not on leads being able to run onto 

graves and foul in the boroughs cemeteries; and 

(v) There were concerns about dogs off leads fouling, disrupting users and attacking 

other dogs at Churchfield House in Great Harwood. 

 
In addition, nominated sports pitches and the Rose Garden in Haworth Park had been 
added to the areas covered by the proposed PSPO.  This was because there had been 
complaints from sports pitch users about dog fouling on sports pitches where children and 
adults were going to participate in football or rugby, caused by dogs not being on leads and 
the owners not knowing the dog had fouled.  Also, due to the fact that the Rose Garden in 
Haworth Park was used for weddings and art events there had been complaints about dogs 
off leads running around disrupting activities and fouling, which had created an unpleasant 
environment for such activities.  
 
PSPO’s were live for a maximum of three years and at that point could be extended and 
varied if necessary, for them to remain in force.  
 
Section 60(2) of the Act permitted local authorities to extend the period during which an 
existing PSPO had effect if it was satisfied on reasonable grounds that the restrictions in 
that PSPO were still required. 
 
A consultation exercise had been undertaken during June of 2021.  Key stakeholders such 
as the Police & Crime Commissioner’s Office, Dogs Trust and user groups such as Sports 
Teams and local ‘Friends Of’ groups had been informed of the consultation to ensure those 
most invested had a chance to comment.  A summary of the results is as set out in the 
table below: 
 

Consultation Question In Favour Against 

Exclude dogs from Council Play Facilities 83.79% 16.21% 

Exclude dogs from Council bowling greens 77.78% 22.22% 

That dog owners or those in charge of a dog clear up 
after the dog fouls  

99.6% 0.4% 

Dogs are kept on leads in Borough townships 85.71% 14.29% 

Dogs are kept on leads in the Boroughs cemeteries 87.25% 12.75% 

Dogs are kept on leads on designated sports pitches 65.08% 34.92% 

Page 6



 
 
 

 

 
5 

Dogs are kept on leads within the grounds of 
Churchfield House in Great Harwood  

75.29% 27.71% 

Dogs are kept on leads within the rose garden at 
Haworth Park 

65.86% 34.14% 

 
As part of the consultation, an online survey had been available for Borough residents to 
indicate which of the proposals for inclusion within the PSPO they were for or against.  A 
total of 257 responses had been received via the online survey.  The results were available 
in Appendix 2 of the report. 
 
Within the consultation document there was a space available on the online survey for 
anyone wishing to make a specific point or comment about the proposals.  A total of 104 
responses had been received via the online survey.  A copy of those responses was 
provided in Appendix 3 of the report. 
 
During the consultation a request had been made by the Lancashire Wildlife Trust to 
include Foxhill Bank Local Nature Reserve (LNR) within the PSPO to require users to keep 
their dogs on leads when within the LNR.  This requirement would be considered for the 
next consultation in three years time. 
 
While the PSPO restricted how dog walkers could exercise their dogs in specified areas, 
the Borough’s eleven major parks and many other open spaces throughout Hyndburn were 
available for dog walkers to exercise their dogs without restrictions. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
Not to make a Public Space Protection Order relating to dog control in Hyndburn pursuant 
to Section 59 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing  Act 2014.  This had been 
rejected as evidence and experience showed that practical measures, like a PSPO helped 
balance the needs of dog owners with the wider use of public spaces. 
 
Resolved (1) That Cabinet agrees to make a PSPO having taken 

into consideration the outcome of the consultation 
exercise. 

 
(2) That Cabinet agrees to make a PSPO being satisfied 

that the conditions in section 59(2) and (3) of the Act 
have been met.  Those conditions being: 

  
(i) Activities carried on in a public place within 

the authority’s area have had a detrimental 
effect on the quality of those in the locality; 

(ii) It is likely that activities will be carried on in a 
public place within that area and they will have 
such an effect; 

(iii) Is or is likely to be persistent or of a continuing 
nature; 

(iv) Is or is likely to be such as to make the 
activities unreasonable; and 

(v) Justifies the restriction imposed. 
 

(3) That Cabinet agrees to make a PSPO which imposes 
the following requirements (for a detailed list of the 
different sites outlined below refer to Appendix 1): 

 

Page 7



 
 
 

 

 
6 

(i) The exclusion of dogs from Council owned 
children’s play facilities; 

(ii) The exclusion of dogs from designated Council 
owned bowling greens; 

(iii) The requirement that the owner or person in 
charge of a dog having to clear up after their 
dog if the dog fouls on any open land in the 
Borough to which the dog has access; 

(iv) The requirement for dogs to be kept on leads 
within Hyndburn’s main townships; 

(v) The requirement for dogs to be kept on leads 
in the Borough’s cemeteries; 

(vi) The requirement for dogs to be kept on leads 
on Council owned sports pitches; 

(vii) The requirement for dogs to be kept on leads 
within the grounds of Churchfield House in 
Great Harwood; and 

(viii) The requirement for dogs to be kept on leads 
within the Rose Garden in Haworth Park. 

 
(4) That Cabinet agree on the level of any Fixed Penalty 

Notices (FPN) issued for contravening a PSPO 
(recommended at £80 with no discount) and 
delegate authority to the Executive Director 
(Environment) to amend the level of FPN in the 
future in consultation with the relevant portfolio 
holder and the Executive Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services). 

 
127 Amendment to the Rules, Regulations and Procedures for Hackney Carriage and 

Private Hire Licensing 
 
Councillor Joyce Plummer provided a report seeking approval for an amendment to the 
Rules, Regulations and Procedures for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing to 
remove the requirement for swivel seats to be fitted in all saloon type hackney carriage 
vehicles for the front passenger. 
 
Councillor Plummer summarised the content of the report including the relevant legislation 
and the current condition applied in Hyndburn for swivel seats in saloon type hackney 
carriage vehicles.  She reminded Members that protective screens had been provided for 
all hackney carriage and private hire vehicle as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic.  
However, this meant that the swivel seats could no longer operate properly.  In general, the 
seats had always been cumbersome and difficult to use.  A group of elected Members had 
tested the seats while visiting a taxi rank and had identified safety implications regarding 
the use of swivel seats.  The intention was to remove this condition from the vehicle licence.  
There remained 6 ‘London’ taxis or wheelchair accessible vehicles in service, which 
represented around 12% of the licenced hackney fleet. 
 
Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP welcomed the report, having raised these issues over a long 
period of time.  Appropriate consultations had been carried out, including councillors visiting 
a taxi rank.  The proposals had the support of the hackney carriage drivers.  He also 
welcomed the provision and continued use of the safety screens which helped to protect 
drivers and customers alike. 
 

Page 8



 
 
 

 

 
7 

Councillor Marlene Haworth also welcomed the report.  She queried whether sufficient 
thought had been given to what alternative provision was available for disabled taxi users.  
Councillor Plummer indicated that swivel seat usage had been very low and in many cases 
seats had never been used.  She reiterated that a number of other accessible vehicles were 
licensed as hackney carriages and the Leader added that Lancashire County Council also 
had a Dial-a-Bus service for disabled travellers.  Councillor Dad commented that in practice 
disabled users were already being referred to the specialist vehicles that were in operation, 
as these were more practical to use. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
Under Section 47 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act the Council 
could attach to the grant of a hackney carriage vehicle licence such conditions as the 
Council might consider reasonably necessary.  Any person aggrieved by a condition could 
appeal to the magistrate's court.  In pursuance of Section 47 some time ago the Council 
had attached the following conditions to hackney carriage vehicle licences: 
 
“All new or replacement hackney carriage vehicles must be;-  
 

a “London” type hackney carriage, or  a suitable wheelchair accessible vehicle, 
approved by the Council, for licence numbers 54 to 62 
 
a saloon car approved by the Council to be fitted with a swivel seat for licence numbers 
1 to 53 

 
Swivel seats must be fitted to compatible vehicles by an authorised company in accordance 
with the vehicle and seat manufacturers guidance and the company concerned must 
provide certification of compliance with these requirements; and the swivel seat must be 
fitted when the vehicle is presented for a taxi vehicle test.  If a swivel seat isn’t fitted, the 
vehicle will fail its test. 
 
Swivel seats are not available for every make and model of vehicle manufactured.  
Vehicles in which it is not possible to install such a seat, will NOT be acceptable for 
licensing unless the height of the seat (28” from the ground to highest part of seat squab) is 
such that it offers no benefit to the disabled (e.g. some MPV’s and purpose built people 
carriers).  
 
A swivel seat is required to allow access for disabled or elderly people in and out of the 
vehicle. The seat works by rotating 90° and then sliding forwards.  The person can then sit 
on the seat and rotate back into the vehicle.  You must ensure that the seat is then locked 
back into position”. 
 
During the Covid-19 Pandemic protective screens had been provided for all hackney 
carriage and private hire vehicles licensed in Hyndburn.  The screens separated the front 
driver compartment from the rear passenger compartment with a view to protecting both 
drivers and customers from infection from Covid-19 whilst being in such a small enclosed 
space.  It had quickly become apparent that the swivel seats would not operate with the 
protective screens in place. 
 
At a recent Taxi Liaison Group meeting the viability of the swivel seats had been raised and 
a discussion had taken place, not only about the issue raised by the protective screens, but 
also about how practical the seats were to use and how often they were used in spite of the 
substantial expense of having the seats fitted.  There was also an issue which arose when 

Page 9



 
 
 

 

 
8 

a replacement vehicle was required following an accident, even if it was only required for a 
short period of time, in that the replacement vehicle had to comply with the policy and had 
to have a swivel seat fitted.  
 
As a result of the discussions a group consisting of elected Members and the Licensing 
Manager visited the taxi rank on Union Street and attempted to get in and out of one of the 
hackney carriage vehicles that did not have a protective screen fitted, using the swivel seat.  
All present found the seats to be cumbersome and it also appeared to be a health and 
safety risk.  Those attempting to get in the vehicle bumped their heads on the doorframe 
and would not have been able to turn their legs into the footwell without physical assistance 
(handling by the taxi drivers or another helper).  Additionally, whilst getting onto the seat all 
found that their feet were quite a distance from the ground, a sensation that was quite 
unnerving for an able bodied person and would probably be even worse for someone with a 
disability.  All came to the conclusion that the swivel seats were not fit for purpose. 
 
Discussions had been held with the drivers present at the rank who stated that they had 
never been asked to use the swivel seat, one stated over a period of 19 years and another 
said over a period of 12 years.  All drivers stated that disabled people had their own 
methods of getting in and out of vehicles and would not want to use something alien to 
them like a swivel seat.  
 
It was proposed that the policy in relation to hackneys 54 to 62 remained as it was 
currently. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The Council could take no action and continue with the current policy.  However, as the 
group who had attended the rank considered the seats to be a health and safety risk whilst 
adding no real value to the hackney carriage fleet for reasons set out in the report, officers 
were recommending that Members amend the policy as requested. 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet approves the amendment to the Rules, 

Regulations and Procedures for Hackney Carriage 
and Private Hire Licensing as set out in this report. 

 
128 Gypsy and Traveller Site Provision - Proposed Approach 

 
Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE provided a report on the work that had been undertaken in 
relation to Gypsy and Traveller site allocation and policy, following the Cabinet update 
provided in January 2021 and which set out the current position in relation to such 
provision. 
 
The report also set out the proposed planning policy approach to address the needs of 
travellers in the new Local Plan.  The Council were currently involved in two Planning and 
Enforcement Appeals, relating to unauthorised Gypsy and Traveller development and the 
report was intended to set out the direction of travel that the Council was proposing to take 
in relation to Gypsy and Traveller site provision.  This was with a view to addressing any 
concerns raised by Members prior to the ‘Publication’ version of the Local Plan being 
issued. 
 
Councillor Parkinson highlighted that the Council had to meet identified accommodation 
need for gypsies and travellers and the report provided the context for this process, as well 
as the grounds to defend Planning and Enforcement Appeals, such as those on-going in 
relation to Back Lane, Baxenden and Moss Lane, Oswaldtwistle. 
 

Page 10



 
 
 

 

 
9 

Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP expressed concerns about proposed additional caravans at 
Springvale, Accrington, as there had previously been friction between the residents of 
Fairfield Street and Springvale Avenue and existing caravan residents at the site.  
Councillor Marlene Haworth expressed similar concerns in respect of an extension to the 
Sough Lane, Oswaldtwistle site.  The Leader reiterated the intention to address elected 
Members questions and concerns before the publication of the formal ‘Publication’ version 
of the Local Plan.  The Council was happy to make appropriate provision for the travelling 
community and could not base its decisions on speculation and prejudice.  However, it did 
understand that residents might have strongly held views on site locations.  It was the 
Council’s view that the sites identified were the most suitable available. 
 
Councillor Howarth queried whether the Council had reached the point where it had already 
made enough provision available and questioned whether there was a finite limit.  The 
Leader responded that this was determined by Government policy.  Ideally the travelling 
community would be dispersed fairly and evenly across the whole country.  In the past 
Hyndburn had met its responsibilities proactively, whereas some of its neighbours and 
neighbouring counties had not done so.  This had led to an established gypsy and traveller 
community in the Borough and increasing accommodation need. 
 
Councillor Michael Miller asked if the Hyndburn’s reduced housing needs allocation applied 
proportionately to the need for gypsy and traveller accommodation.  The Leader 
commented that these were separate issues.  For mainstream housing it was known that 
Hyndburn had an overprovision of 1 and 2 bedroom accommodation and terraced homes 
and aspired to create more large family homes.  The accommodation need identified for 
travellers had been based on the minimum figures necessary, but the reality was that these 
were still higher than neighbouring authorities due to historic provision. 
 
Councillor Miller enquired if more could be done to promote use of brownfield sites, rather 
than Green Belt.  Councillor Parkinson commented that many of the sites identified were in 
fact brownfield.  However, in some instances the allocation of out-of-urban-area sites 
helped to avoid the conflict issues mentioned previously.  In so far as possible, the Council 
would endeavour to take into account the views of residents, but the planning officers had 
to work within the legal framework. 
 
Councillor Haworth suggested that it might be worth writing to Government about the 
situation to explain that Hyndburn already provided for its share of gypsies and travellers.  
The proposals were somewhat at odds with the intention of Levelling Up the Borough and 
improving the quality of life for all.  The Leader confirmed that letters had been sent in the 
past and might be useful.  The Borough remained proud of its diverse community which 
catered for travellers, refugees, asylum seekers and every class of society.  This was not 
replicated elsewhere, for example, with around one third of councils not offering support to 
Afghan refugees.  The Leader reiterated that because of the establish gypsy and traveller 
community in Hyndburn their future accommodation need was correspondingly greater.  
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
The full reasons are set out in the main report, which includes information on the following 
matters: 
 

 National policy for traveller sites; 

 Hyndburn Local Plan 2016-2036; 

Page 11



 
 
 

 

 
10 

 Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Accommodation Assessment 

(GTAA) (including pitch and plot requirements); 

 Gypsy and Traveller Policy and Site Options - proposed approach (including Steps 1 

and 2 and meeting the short term and longer term requirements); 

 Current policy position in relation to gypsy and traveller site provision; and 

 Consultations. 

 

There were no alternative options considered or reasons proposed for rejection 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet supports the Council in seeking to 

develop an approach to Gypsy and Traveller 
provision that is based on the following: 

 
(i) Takes account of the content and findings of 

the Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling 
Showperson Accommodation Assessment 
(GTAA) 2019 (provided with the report as 
background paper 1); 

(ii) An agreement to use the proposed strategy to 
meet Gypsy and Traveller requirements as set 
out in this paper; 

(iii) Includes the sites identified in this report as 
proposed Gypsy and Traveller site allocations 
in the emerging Local Plan (the Regulation 19 
version); 

(iv) That land at Spring Vale, Accrington (Site ref. 
155); land at Crossland Street, Accrington (Site 
ref. 262); and land off Enfield Road, Huncoat 
(Site ref. 266) provide a range of sites that 
could meet the identified short term need for 
gypsy and traveller provision; in particular site 
155 was granted permission in 2001 for the 
siting of 10 static caravans and again in 2006 
for the siting of 9 mobile homes and remains 
undeveloped; 

(v) That the medium to longer term needs are met 
by those sites identified in paragraphs 3.18 
and 3.20 of the report. 

 
129 Appointment of an External Expert Consultant - Electric Vehicle Charging Points 

 
Councillor Paul Cox presented a report seeking approval to waive the Council’s Contracts 
Procedure Rules for the appointment of a suitably experienced consultant to provide 
information relating to the installation of electric vehicle charging points in Council depots. 
 
Councillor P Cox highlighted the intention to appoint the Association of Public Sector 
Excellence (APSE) as the consultant to undertake the technical research and produce 
information required to engage an appropriate contractor for the installation works.  APSE 
could be appointed quickly and following evaluation of the work required a full tender 
exercise could be carried out for the main project. 
 
Councillor Haworth asked how many charging points would be installed.  Councillor P Cox 
responded that this would be part of the evaluation work undertaken by APSE.  Councillor 
Haworth also asked about the public charging points previously sited near the Town Hall.  

Page 12



 
 
 

 

 
11 

Councillor Michael Miller queried whether new public charging points would form part of the 
Levelling Up bid, for example, they could be sited in Council car parks.  Councillor Cox 
clarified that the report related only to charging points for the Council’s planned fleet of 
electric vehicles at Willows Lane.  The Leader added that on-street charging points would 
be a matter for Lancashire County Council.  The charging points originally outside the Town 
Hall had been relocated to St James Street.  He noted that the technology was rapidly 
developing, with inductive/wireless power transfer charging possibly on the horizon. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
The Council had declared a climate emergency in 2017 and since then had been working to 
reduce its carbon footprint. 
 
Over the last 5 years electric vehicle technology had moved on to a point whereby the 
Council could consider replacing some of its smaller works vans with electric vehicles. 
 
When researching what electric vehicles would be suitable to be used as part of the 
Council’s fleet it had become evident that prior to procuring any electric vehicles the Council 
needed to have electric vehicle charging points available for these vehicles within its 
depots. 
 
There was not only a need to assess how many electric vehicle charging points would be 
needed to keep the fleet running, but also whether the mains electrical supply to the depots 
was sufficient. 
 
It was recognised that the Council did not have the specific knowledge or experienced staff 
‘in house’ to undertake the necessary technical research and produce information suitable 
for engaging an appropriate electrical contractor to install the electric vehicle charging 
points. 
 
The Association of Public Sector Excellence (APSE) were a not for profit organisation who 
provided information, advice and expertise to over 300 Local Authorities throughout the UK.  
APSE were able to provide the specific knowledge and experienced staff to provide a report 
containing the necessary information to the Council outlining the most effective way to 
install electric vehicle charging points.  The Council had previously engaged APSE on a 
consultancy basis to provide specific knowledge and experience for the public sector 
decarbonisation project currently underway.  
 
Waiving the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules, meant that APSE could be appointed and 
quickly commence work, thereby avoiding the longer time involved in running a formal 
tendering exercise.  The Leader of the Council had expressed a desire that this work should 
commence during the current financial year.  Once the information provided by APSE had 
been evaluated and the Council was ready to procure the electric vehicle charging points, a 
tender exercise would be undertaken to ensure the most economically advantageous 
contractor was engaged. 
 
Officers believed that APSE were the most suitable consultant to undertake this work 
because after making reasonable enquiries APSE was the only supplier identified which 
was able to provide independent advice as they were not a supplier of electric vehicle 
charging points.  Officers wanted an independent organisation to identify the most cost 
effective way of installing electric vehicle charging points to Council depots. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 

Page 13



 
 
 

 

 
12 

 
It was important that the appointment was undertaken quickly so the Council could move on 
with greening its fleet and reducing its carbon footprint.  The alternative would be to delay 
the procurement of electric vehicle charging points, thus delaying the change from diesel 
vehicles to electric vehicles. 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet agrees to waive the Contracts 

Procedure Rules and grants delegated authority to 
the Executive Director (Environment), following 
consultation with the Executive Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services) to agree the terms of the 
agreement, to appoint an external consultant as set 
out in paragraphs 3.6 and 3.7 of the report. 

 
130 Exclusion of the Public 

 
Resolved - That, in accordance with Regulation 4(2)(b) of the 

Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012, the public be excluded from the 
meeting during the following item, when it was 
likely, in view of the nature of the proceedings that 
there would otherwise be disclosure of exempt 
information within the Paragraph at Schedule 12A of 
the Act specified at the item. 

 
131 Urgent Decisions Taken 

 
Exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, Paragraph 3 – 
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including 
the authority holding that information) 
 
In accordance with Executive Procedure Rule B16(c), Members considered a report on the 
following decisions taken under the urgency procedure: 
 

No. Decision Heading Portfolio 

Holder 

Date of 

Approval 

(a) Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme Councillor Miles 

Parkinson OBE 

20th August 2021 

 
Councillor Michael Miller enquired why the repair works to the roof at Hyndburn Leisure 
Centre had not been addressed prior to the approval of the decarbonisation works and if 
this delay might jeopardise the main scheme.  Mr David Welsby, Chief Executive, reported 
that the deadline for completion of the decarbonisation works had now been extended so 
that the grant was not at risk.  Also, it had not been possible to know the exact state of the 
roof until the inspection works for the main project had been carried out. 
 
Councillor Miller also asked about the source of the funding for the roof repair works.  The 
Chief Executive confirmed that there were already reserves in place for remedial and 
maintenance works at the Sports Centre.  The overall project would be a mixture of capital 
programme works and grant funding for decarbonisation. 
 
Resolved - To note the report on urgent decisions taken. 

Page 14



 
 
 

 

 
13 

 
132 (Item Withdrawn) 

 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



 
1 

 
CABINET COMMITTEE (STREET NAMING) 

 

 
Wednesday, 15th September, 2021 

 
Present:  
 
 
 
In Attendance: 

Councillor Loraine Cox (in the Chair),  
Councillors Munsif Dad BEM JP and Miles Parkinson OBE 
Co-optees: Munsif Dad BEM JP and Miles Parkinson OBE 
 
Councillors ObserverInAttendanceShortList 
 

Apologies Judith Addison 

  

 
117 Apologies for Absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 

 

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillor Judith Addison who 
attends the committee as an observer.  
 

118 Minutes of the Last Meeting 
 

The Minutes of the Cabinet Committee (Street Naming) meeting held on the 17th 
March 2021 were submitted for approval as a correct record.  
 
Resolved – That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct record.  
 

119 Street Naming Proposal - Balfour Street, Great Harwood 
 

The Chief Planning and Transportation Officer submitted a report to seek approval 
for the naming of the following Streets for a new-build residential development 
located off Balfour Street, Great Harwood with 57 dwellings.  
 
4 Street names were put forward for the 3 Streets to be named, they were: 

 Lapping Way  

 Roving Street 

 Comber Crescent  

 Beamer Grove  
 
The suggested Street names are related to the Cotton Mill that was located close to 
the development site and based on the cotton making process.  
 
The suggested Street names adhere to the Street Naming and Numbering Policy. 
All emergency services and the royal mail had been consulted.  
 
The Committee Members had a discussion on the Street names and they felt the 
Mill connection was very relevant. 
 
They agreed on: 

 Comber Crescent  

 Roving Street 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

 Beamer Grove 
 
The pronunciation of Comber Street is a silent b for the purpose of the residents 
and public.   
 
Resolved – That the 3 Street names be named Comber Crescent, Roving 
Street and Beamer Grove.  
 

 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 18



Page 1 of 5 
 

REPORT TO:  
Cabinet 

DATE: 20 October 2021 

PORTFOLIO: Councillor Loraine Cox, Regeneration and Wellbeing 

REPORT AUTHOR: Mark Hoyle, Head of Regeneration & Housing 

TITLE OF REPORT: Huncoat Garden Village – Masterplan Framework & 
Infrastructure Delivery Strategy 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

  

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To invite Cabinet to consider for approval the Huncoat Garden Village Masterplan Framework 

and Infrastructure Delivery Strategy. 
 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
 I recommend that Cabinet: 
 
2.1 Notes and approves the Huncoat Garden Village Masterplan Framework and Infrastructure 

Delivery Strategy as per the final document which can be viewed via the following links: 
 

 http://www.huncoatgardenvillage.co.uk/ 

 https://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/huncoat-garden-village-masterplan-framework/ 
 
 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 Huncoat Garden Village forms a major part of Hyndburn Borough Council’s growth plans 

including a genuine and once in a lifetime opportunity to diversify Hyndburn’s housing offer as 
well as provide new housing in a fabulous landscape setting.  The Garden Village is a game 
changing opportunity for market making housing in Hyndburn at scale that not only helps the 
Borough retain those households that otherwise leave to meet their housing aspirations 
elsewhere, but also attract, new economic active households to the Borough.   
 
Huncoat will be an exemplar of national significance for creating new, sustainable garden 
communities.  At a critical point with the need to respond to climate change, the Masterplan is 
clear that when planning for the new housing everything must be done to protect the 
environment.  For this reason the Masterplan sets a framework for the highest possible 
standards in protecting Huncoat’s rich natural environment including the protection, 

Page 19

Agenda Item 6.

http://www.huncoatgardenvillage.co.uk/
https://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/huncoat-garden-village-masterplan-framework/


Page 2 of 5 
 

conservation and enhancement of existing habitats including woodland, grassland and 
watercourses. 
 
The Masterplan also sets a framework for sustainability to ensure that the Garden Village 
draws together a range of principles that expect the highest standards of sustainable design 
and construction essential in creating a built environment that demands decarbonisation, 
making positive steps to carbon zero. 

 
 
3.2 Cabinet originally gave its consent on the 18th July 2018 to undertake a comprehensive 

exercise to establish a Huncoat Garden Village Masterplan Framework and Infrastructure 
Delivery Strategy (The Masterplan).  The Masterplan has been developed and finalised under 
the following key stages: 

 
 Stage 1 – Evidence Base and Baseline Report - This report comprises of a series of co-

ordinated studies and reports to inform a robust evidence base for the Masterplan area to 
ensure the constraints (e.g. ground conditions, drainage, landscape, ecological, transport, 
ownership) are fully understood, spatial parameters and infrastructure requirements can be 
fixed with confidence and a deliverable masterplan can be agreed. 

 
 Stage 2 – Option Development and Testing Report – Once the baseline work had been 

agreed initially three land use and infrastructure options were developed and tested.  These 
were based on a mix of residential and employment uses comprising an existing planning 
policy compliant scenario, a medium growth scenario utilising more land and a maximum 
growth option.  The testing and option development work concluded that employment uses 
were not viable and were not supported in the consultation that took place.  Subsequently, a 
further 3 residential only options were tested and developed.  Each option was assessed in 
relation to its impact on: 

 
- the local highway networks 
- existing school provision 
- biodiversity and ecology 
- the character and visual impact of development within Huncoat 
- utilities assessment to confirm utilities requirement, costs, risks and delivery issues 
- viability and deliverability 
- the requirement for Green Belt release 
- drainage, to confirm a drainage strategy (costs) 

 
Following the option testing a preferred final option was agreed. 

  
Stage 3 – Draft Masterplan and Framework and Infrastructure Delivery Strategy – The 
preferred final option was worked up as a full masterplan framework with a series of individual 
framework plans accompanied by written guidance on the planning, design and infrastructure 
requirements.  These include a land use framework, a movement framework and access 
strategy, a green infrastructure framework, character area guidance, a placemaking 
framework.  In addition, the Masterplan framework is supported by financial viability appraisals, 
an infrastructure delivery strategy and report. 

  
 Stage 4 – Final Masterplan Framework and Infrastructure Delivery Strategy – The final 

Masterplan document collates the Stage 3 work into a composite document which also sets out 
future planning application requirements for Huncoat and identifies further planning policy 
changes required to support the implementation of the Masterplan. 

 

Page 20



Page 3 of 5 
 

3.3 In developing the Masterplan additional work was commissioned in order to ensure the 
Masterplan was under-pinned by a robust evidence base, including the following:- 

 
i) Highway Assessment – to better understand the existing highways capacity to support 

growth at Huncoat.  The study identified key tipping points where highway interventions 
were required including junction improvements and the provision of a new distributor road 
linking Huncoat Garden Village with the A56. 

 
ii) Ecology Survey – A further detailed assessment of the ecological features within the 

Masterplan area was undertaken to further ascertain the ecological values of the former 
colliery and power station sites. 

 
iii) School Provision – A study has been undertaken to understand how the expansion of the 

Huncoat Primary School can be accommodated on the existing site including 
improvements in highway access. 

 
iv) Individual Site Assessment – A comprehensive site assessment was undertaken to allow 

clear decisions to be made on the inclusion or discounting of particular sites for future 
development within the Masterplan area.  Considerations included: 

 

 alignment with Garden Village concepts, vision and design principles 

 contextual fit and impact on the existing village and community 

 transport planning and access 

 visual impact and character 

 green belt categorisation 

 site features, including environmental considerations 

 infrastructure requirements 

 viability 

 stakeholder consultation including landowners and the local community 
 
3.4 The Masterplan has been developed alongside a review of the Local Plan including a review of 

the Core Strategy along with the preparation of the Site Allocations Development Plan 
Document.  The Masterplan becomes a material consideration to any planning application for 
Huncoat Garden Village to be progressed in line with the Local Plan.  The purpose of the 
Masterplan is therefore to guide the local planning authority, land owners, developers and 
house builders in respect of land use, environmental, social, design and economic objectives in 
creating Huncoat Garden Village. 

 
3.5 The key components promoted by the Masterplan over the next 15 years include: 
 

 1,504 new homes plus an additional 312 safeguarded for the next plan period beyond 
2036. 

 A new residential relief/distributor road linking Huncoat Garden Village directly with the 
A56. 

 Provision to expand Huncoat Junior School (subject to some further work including 
discussions with Lancashire County Council and the Huncoat Junior School) 

• A new village centre to be located at the junction of Lower Gate Road, Altham Lane and 
Station Road.  This will link the “old” Huncoat with the Garden Village area and will provide 
local shops, community buildings and car parking within walking distance of the new 
neighbourhoods as well as existing residential areas. 

• Railway Station improvements including car parking facilities and cycling storage, 
improved access arrangements, live train information and increased security. 

Page 21



Page 4 of 5 
 

• Circa 40 hectares of improved open space including 24 hectares of safeguarded land for a 
potential Biological Heritage Site. 

• In addition to the existing football / sport pitches off Bolton Avenue, a new state of the art 
11 a side 4G pitch with flood lighting and a 9 a-side grass pitch 

• 7 formal play areas and 7 informal play areas 
 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 Six options were developed and tested (refer to “3.2, Stage 2” above) finalising the preferred 

Masterplan option.  The initial three options (1-3) included a mix of residential uses but all three 
were rejected because the employment uses were found to have a detrimental impact on the 
Masterplan and to be not viable, and with very little support from local resident consultation. 

 
4.2 A further three residential only options were developed and tested: 
 

 Option 4 – Small growth option (497 new homes) 

 Option 5 – Medium growth option (1,110 new homes) 

 Option 6 – Transformational growth option (1,793 new homes) 
 
 Option 4 was rejected because it did not satisfy the emerging Local Plan housing numbers to 

be delivered in Huncoat.  A ‘hybrid’ of Option 5 and 6 was selected to satisfy the emerging 
Local Plan housing numbers and following detailed testing to produce a deliverable Masterplan 
framework. 

 
4.3 Detailed analysis of option development and testing is provided within the Stage 2 Option 

Testing and Development Report. 
 
 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 The Masterplan has been subject to extensive consultation, including: 
 

 Stage 1  - Baseline Evidence – landowner and stakeholder consultation 
 

 Stage 2 -  Option Development & Testing 
 

   - landowner consultation 
   - stakeholder consultation 
   - public consultation (November 2018) 
   - further public consultation (March/April 2019) 
   - resident transport and infrastructure workshop (14th February 2019) 
   - resident green infrastructure workshop (6th March 2019) 
   - Huncoat Primary School Workshop (February 2019) 
 

 Stage 3 - Draft Masterplan Framework and Infrastructure Delivery Strategy 
 

   - Preferred Option consultation with the public and stakeholders including 
landowners (May/June 21) 

 

 Huncoat Forum – Throughout the Masterplan’s development Council officers have regularly 
attended the Forum to keep its members and attendees up to date with the Masterplan’s 
Development and progress. 

 

Page 22



Page 5 of 5 
 

6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including any 
future financial commitments for the 
Council) 
 

None arising from this report. 
 
The Masterplan will be mainly delivered by the 
private sector with possible Homes England 
funding support for infrastructure. 
 
The Masterplan contains high level development 
appraisals including viability analysis. 
 
Any Homes England support paid to the Council 
for infrastructure funding will be subject to future 
Cabinet reports. 

Legal and human rights implications 
 

None arising from this report. 

Assessment of risk 
 

No risks arise directly from this report. 
 
The Masterplan will be embedded in the new 
emerging Local Plan which will be subject to 
examination by the planning inspectorate and 
therefore subject to potential challenge and 
considerations including assessment as to 
whether the plan has been prepared in 
accordance with legal and procedural 
requirements and if it is sound.  For this reason, 
the Masterplan is subject to an extensive 
evidence base, robust option testing and 
consultation. 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy decisions 
and should be attached as an appendix 
to the report.  
 

None arising from this report. 

 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 Previous reports to Cabinet on the 4th January 2017, the 18th July 2018 and the 15th January 

2020.  
 
 
8. Freedom of Information 
 
8.1 The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, 

Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of Information Act 
2000. 

 

Page 23

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 10 
 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 20th October 2021 

REPORT OF: Cllr Jenny Molineux, Chair of the Communities and 
Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

REPORT AUTHOR: Ben Caulfield, Scrutiny and Policy Officer 

TITLE OF REPORT: Healthy Weight Declaration 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
  

1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To provide information on the Councils current actions which support obesity 

prevention and the Healthy Weight Declaration and recommend a course of action. 

 
2. Recommendations  
 
 That Cabinet agrees to: 

 
2.1 Support the principles of the Healthy Weight Declaration and Lancashire County 

Councils Commitment as the Upper Tier Authority responsible for Public Health in 
Hyndburn: 
 

2.2 Shows its Commitment to reducing obesity in Hyndburn by maintaining the actions 
detailed below: 
 

 Support action at national level to help local authorities promote healthy weight 
and reduce health inequalities in our communities by promoting national healthy 
weight campaign messages through our social media channels. 

 

 Maintain supplementary planning guidance for hot food takeaways around 
schools, with a restriction zone of 400m radius around all schools in the 
Borough. New hot food takeaways will not be supported within these areas, 
except when located in a defined town or local centre, or controls on the hours 
of operation are implemented to help reduce the likelihood of young people 
visiting. 

 

 Use planning policy where possible to support health and wellbeing and create 
development that encourages physical activity and active travel. 

Page 25

Agenda Item 7.



Page 2 of 10 
 

 

 Continue our approach to enabling and promoting active travel for staff and 
visitors whilst providing staff with opportunities to be physically active through 
the promoting of stair use, cycle to work scheme and subsidised leisure access. 

 

 Encourage partners who operate catering from Council owned buildings to offer 
healthy options. 

 

 Through our work with partners notably Hyndburn Leisure, encourage residents 
to be physically active through use of leisure facilities and outdoor spaces.  

 
2.3 Review Officer capacity in 6 months-time, and consider then whether resources are 

available for the Council to sign the Healthy Weight Declaration and carry out the 16 
core commitments. 

 
3. Reasons for Recommendations 
 
Obesity in Hyndburn 
 
3.1 Obesity is increasing, with a rise in obesity prevalence in the UK from 15% in 1993 to 

29% in 2017). Nearly two thirds of adults in England are overweight or obese (64%), 

(Public Health England, 2017)  

 

3.2 There is no single cause of overweight and obesity, it is down to a multitude of factors, 

including (but not limited to) access to healthy food; proximity to fast food outlets; 

advertising and marketing of unhealthy, calorie dense food and drink; and opportunities 

for physical activity. Therefore, healthy weight needs to be ‘everybody’s business,’ and 

all local government departments have a role to play. Having strong support across 

portfolios and wards can help to drive change, ensuring that healthy weight is 

considered in all policies and practice. 

 

3.3 Locally, healthy weight is a growing concern in Hyndburn: 

 

 The prevalence of childhood obesity in Hyndburn is greater than the national average, 

with 22.8% of children aged 10-11 in the district classified as obese. This is the highest 

prevalence across Pennine Lancashire. 

 

 Hyndburn is one of the 10% most deprived districts/unitary authorities in England, 

which is significantly associated with overweight and obesity. Furthermore, about 19% 

(3,300) of children live-in low-income families which is also a risk factor for poor health 

outcomes. 

 

 Physical inactivity directly contributes to 1 in 6 deaths, and around a quarter of the 

population is inactive and 45% of women and 33% of men are not active enough to 

benefit their health.  

Page 26



Page 3 of 10 
 

 

 Diet-related ill health in the UK is estimated to lead to approximately 70,000 premature 

deaths annually, which represents around 12 per cent of the total number of deaths.   

 

 Evidence shows that poor diet has the highest impact on the NHS budget, costing 

around £6 billion per year. An unhealthy diet is strongly associated and causally linked 

with a number of chronic, complex conditions such as obesity, cardiovascular disease, 

some cancers and type II diabetes. 

 

 Those with obesity are at greater risk of poor outcomes relating to Covid-19 

 
Healthy Places Healthy Futures Trailblazer 

 

 

3.4 Across Pennine Lancashire, local authorities have been asked to support the delivery 

of the Healthy Place Healthy Future Trailblazer programme, to adopt the Healthy 

Weight Declaration and look at creating some local commitments. It has already been 

adopted by BwD, LCC and Pendle BC.    

 

3.5 The Declaration has been produced by Food Active, a healthy weight programme 

originally commissioned by local authority public health teams, NHS organisations, and 

Public Health England teams at both regional and national level.  It has been approved 

by the North West Regional Association of Directors of Public Health, British Dental 

Association, Children’s Food Campaign and the UK Health Forum.   

 

Hyndburn – Healthy Weight Declaration  

 

3.6 A Local Authority signing up to the declaration signals a strategic commitment made 

across all council departments to: reduce unhealthy weight in local communities; 

protect the health and wellbeing of staff and citizens; and, to make an economic impact 

on health, social care and the local economy.  

 

3.7 Adoption of the Declaration provides an opportunity for local authorities to lead local 

action and demonstrate good practice in adopting a systems approach to healthy 

weight.  

 

3.8 The Declaration includes 16 standard commitments whereby Local Authorities pledge 

to achieve action on improving policy and healthy weight outcomes in relation to 

specific areas of the council’s work. Within the Declaration there is also the opportunity 

for Local Authorities to add local commitments relevant to their community health 

needs and priorities. 

 

Page 27



Page 4 of 10 
 

3.9 The Policy Team undertook a review of the Council’s current activity and how this 

could link to the 16 core commitments in the Healthy Weight Declaration.  

 

Core Commitment HBC already contributing How can HBC contribute 

Implement the Local Authority 
HWD as part of a long-term, 
‘systems-wide approach’ to 
obesity 
 

No Adoption of local action plan 
to tackle obesity 

Advocate plans that promote a 
preventative approach to 
encouraging a healthier weight 
with local partners, identified 
as part of a ‘place-based 
system’ (e.g. Integrated Care 
System) 
 

No To be developed alongside 
HBC’s role in the new 
Lancashire and South Cumbria 
ICS / ICP structure 

Support action at national 
level to help local authorities 
promote healthy weight and 
reduce health inequalities in 
our communities (this includes 
preventing weight stigma and 
weight bias); 
 

Yes Promote national healthy 
weight campaign messages 
through social media using 
appropriate language 

Invest in the health literacy of 
local citizens to make informed 
healthier choices; ensuring 
clear and comprehensive 
healthy eating and physical 
activity messages are 
consistent with government 
guidelines; 

Yes As above 

Local authorities who have 
completed adoption of the 
HWD are encouraged to 
review and strengthen the 
initial action plans they have 
developed by consulting Public 
Health England’s, Whole 
Systems Approach to Obesity, 
including its tools, techniques 
and materials; 

No Annual review of obesity 
action plan 

Engage with the local food and 
drink sector (retailers, 
manufacturers, caterers, out 
of home settings) where 
appropriate to consider 
responsible retailing such as, 

No Current staffing pressures 
brought about by the Covid-19 
pandemic and other factors 
would mean the Council would 
find this difficult to resource.  

Page 28



Page 5 of 10 
 

offering and promoting 
healthier food and drink 
options, and reformulating and 
reducing the portion sizes of 
high fat, sugar and salt (HFSS) 
products; 
 
 

Consider how commercial 
partnerships with the food and 
drink industry may impact on 
the messages communicated 
around healthy weight to our 
local communities. Such 
funding maybe offered to 
support research, 
discretionary services (such as 
sport and recreation and 
tourism events) and town 
centre promotions; 
 
 

No Upper Tier authority 
responsible - Support LCC’s 
pledge 

Protect our children from 
inappropriate marketing by 
the food and drink industry 
such as advertising and 
marketing in close proximity to 
schools; ‘giveaways’ and 
promotions within schools; at 
events on local authority 
controlled sites; 
 
 

NA Upper Tier authority 
responsible - Support LCC’s 
pledge 

Consider supplementary 
guidance for hot food 
takeaways, specifically in areas 
around schools, parks and 
where access to healthier 
alternatives are limited; 
 
 

Yes – Policy DM5 Development 
Management DPD - the 
Council has identified a hot 
food takeaway restriction 
zone, 400 metres radius from 
all schools in the Borough. 
New hot food takeaways will 
not be supported within these 
areas, except when located in 
a defined Town or Local 
Centre, or controls on the 
hours of operation are 
implemented to help reduce 
the likelihood of young people 
visiting. A 400 metres distance 
(radius from the application 
site) is considered to be a 

 

Page 29



Page 6 of 10 
 

practical equivalent of 
between 5-10 minute walk 
taking into account physical 
barriers (e.g. buildings, traffic 
lights etc.) 

Review how strategies, plans 
and infrastructures for 
regeneration and town 
planning positively impact on 
physical activity, active travel, 
the food environment and 
food security (consider an 
agreed process for local plan 
development between public 
health and planning 
authorities); 
 
 

Yes – Planning policies do try 

to support health and wellbeing 
and create development that 
encourages physical activity 
and active travel 

 

Where Climate Emergency 
Declarations are in place, 
consider how the HWD can 
support carbon reduction 
plans and strategies, address 
land use policy, transport 
policy, circular economy waste 
policies, food procurement, air 
quality etc; 
 
 

No Unsure how this would link 
with Hyndburn’s Climate 
Emergency Declaration 

Review contracts and 
provision at public events, in 
all public buildings, facilities 
and ‘via’ providers to make 
healthier foods and drinks 
more available, convenient 
and affordable and limit access 
to high-calorie, low-nutrient 
foods and drinks (this should 
be applied to public 
institutions & scrutiny given to 
any new contracts for food & 
drink provision, where 
possible); 
 
 

No Council does not provide 
catering. Request HAG, HL to 
offer healthy options? 

Increase public access to fresh 
drinking water on local 
authority controlled sites; 
(keeping single use plastics to 
a minimum) and encouraging 

Yes – drinking water available 
in council buildings. Single use 
plastics scrapped as part of 
green review 

Can we encourage 
Officers/Councillors to bring 
reusable bottles for office 
use/meetings? 

Page 30



Page 7 of 10 
 

re-useable bottle refills; 
 
 

Develop an organisational 
approach to enable and 
promote active travel for staff, 
patients & visitors, whilst 
providing staff with 
opportunities to be physically 
active where possible (e.g. 
promoting stair use, standing 
desks, cycle to work/school 
schemes); 
 
 

Yes – Active travel plan? Stair 
use promoted, cycle to work 
scheme available and safe 
cycle storage 

 

Promote the health and well-
being of local authority staff by 
creating a culture and ethos 
that promotes understanding 
of healthy weight, supporting 
staff to eat well and move 
more; 
 
 

Yes – cycle to work scheme, 
reduce access to leisure 
services, staff fitness sessions 

 

Monitor the progress of our 
action plan against the 
commitments, report on and 
publish the results annually. 
 
 

No Policy Team could review plan 
annually if adopted 

   

 

 

3.11 The table above shows the Council already addresses many of the core commitments 

as part of its usual business. However, the Covid-19 pandemic has brought increasing 

pressures on many Council departments. It would therefore be difficult to meet the 

remaining core commitments within existing resources. 

 

3.12 Therefore, the Policy Team consulted with Corporate Management Team (CMT) to 

ascertain their views.   

 

3.13 CMT recognise the importance of reducing obesity in Hyndburn, and highlighted the 

many actions the Council already take to do this. However, they are concerned that 

signing the Healthy Weight Declaration commits the Council to undertaking action on 

the 16 core commitments, several of which the Council does not have the current 

capacity to undertake. The Scrutiny Committee shared these concerns, and agreed 

that the Council should only sign the Healthy Weight Declaration if it had the capacity 

Page 31



Page 8 of 10 
 

to deliver, which, due to increased workload on many Council departments due to the 

COvid-19 pandemic, it does not. 

 

3.14 The Council can still demonstrate its commitment to healthy weights without signing 

the declaration, by agreeing to commit to the actions detailed in section 2. 

 

 

4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 

4.1 Cabinet signs the Healthy Weight Declaration – this is rejected as there is no current 
officer capacity to deliver on some of the core commitments of the Healthy Weight 
Declaration.  

 
 
 

5. Consultations 
 
5.1 Corporate Management Team and Heads of Service. 

 
6. Implications 

 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 

The Childhood Obesity Trailblazer grant is 
£100,000 per year for 3 years across Pennine 
Lancashire and will be retained by BwD to 
centrally support and co-ordinate 
implementation of the programme. Food 
Active have recently indicated their intention 
to award £3,000 to each District Council 
across the county to be used for reducing 
obesity related activities  

Legal and human rights 
implications 

N/A 

Assessment of risk N/A 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  

No CFA required 

 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985:  

List of Background Papers 
 

 
7.1 Agenda, reports and minutes of the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 

8th September 2021 
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=129&MId=2629&Ver
=4 

Page 32

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=129&MId=2629&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=129&MId=2629&Ver=4


Page 9 of 10 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 33



 

10 
 

 

Page 34



 UNCLASSIFIED  
 

1 of 4 

 

 

Hyndburn Borough Council 
 
 Customer First Analysis 
 

 
What is it for? 
 
Our corporate values include putting the customer first, providing opportunities for bright futures and 
narrowing inequality across the Borough. 
 
From 1 April 2011, a new legal duty applies to all public authorities.  It covers these protected 
characteristics: 
 

 age; 

 disability; 

 gender reassignment; 

 pregnancy and maternity; 

 race; 

 religion or belief; 

 gender; 

 sexual orientation; and, for some aspects, 

 marriage and civil partnerships. 
 
The duty means that – as previously - we should analyse the effect of existing and new policies and 
practices on equality.  It does not specify how we should do this.  However, legal cases on the 
meaning of the previous general equality duties make it clear that we must carry out the analysis 
before making the relevant policy decision, and include consideration as to whether we can reduce 
any detrimental impact.   
 
The framework overleaf – our Customer First Analysis - is suggested when making a written record of 
the analysis.  This replaces Equality Impact Assessments. 
 
The Analysis should be proportionate to the policy decision being taken.  In some cases the written 
record will be a quick set of bullet points or notes under each heading, to deal with any questions 
which are relevant (or briefly explain why if they aren’t).  Others will need to be much more detailed.  A 
meaningful Analysis will help the Council make the best decision or formulate a policy which best 
meets our customers’ needs. 
 
Please return completed Customer First Analyses to Human Resources.  I can guide you through the 
process if this would be helpful. 
 
If you have any suggestions for improving this process, please let me know. 
 
 
 
Kirsten Burnett 
Head of HR 

Page 35



 UNCLASSIFIED  
 

2 of 4 

Customer First Analysis 
 

1. Purpose 
 

 What are you trying to achieve with the policy / service / function? 
 
Cabinet to commit to maintaining actions which support residents to achieve a healthy weight 

 
 

 Who defines and manages it? 
 

Cabinet 
 

 

 Who do you intend to benefit from it and how? 
 

Hyndburn residents. The report outlines various commitments the Council will maintain in order 
to help people achieve a healthy weight. 
 

 What could prevent people from getting the most out of the policy / service / function? 
 

Not applicable 
 

 

 How will you get your customers involved in the analysis and how will you tell people about it? 
 

Not applicable 
 
 
2. Evidence 
 

 How will you know if the policy delivers its intended outcome / benefits? 
 

Healthy Weight is everyone’s business. The report outlines how the Council can achieve this 
via evidence based actions recommended by Food Active. 

 
 

 How satisfied are your customers and how do you know? 
 

Not applicable 
 

 

 What existing data do you have on the people that use the service and the wider population? 
 

Obesity related data for Hyndburn is detailed in the report. 
 

 

 What other information would it be useful to have?  How could you get this? 
 

Information from other Pennine Lancashire Councils who have signed the Healthy Weight 
Declaration. Consult with them at a later date 

Page 36



 UNCLASSIFIED  
 

3 of 4 

 Are you breaking down data by equality groups where relevant (such as by gender, age, 
disability, ethnicity, sexual orientation, marital status, religion and belief, pregnancy and 
maternity)? 

 
No 

 
 

 Are you using partners, stakeholders, and councillors to get information and feedback? 
 
No 

 
3. Impact 
 

 Are some people benefiting more – or less - than others?  If so, why might this be? 
 

No 
 
4. Actions 
 

 If the evidence suggests that the policy / service / function benefits a particular group – or 
disadvantages another - is there a justifiable reason for this and if so, what is it? 

 
No 
 

 Is it discriminatory in any way? 
 

No 

 Is there a possible impact in relationships or perceptions between different parts of the 
community? 

 
No 
 

 What measures can you put in place to reduce disadvantages? 
 

No 
 

 Do you need to consult further? 
 

No 
 

 Have you identified any potential improvements to customer service? 
 

Not applicable 
 

 Who should you tell about the outcomes of this analysis? 
 

Not applicable 
 

 Have you built the actions into your Business Plan with a clear timescale? 
 

Not applicable 
 

Page 37



 UNCLASSIFIED  
 

4 of 4 

 When will this assessment need to be repeated? 
 

No 
 

Name:_____Ben Caulfield____________________ Signed: ______B Caulfield_______________ 
 
Service Area:_____Policy___________________Dated:___16/9/2021________________________ 

 
If applicable, please attach copy of – or website link to - the cabinet report for reference. 

 
 

Don’t forget to return your written record to HR. 
 

Page 38


	Agenda
	3. Minutes of Cabinet
	4. Minutes of Committees, Boards, Panels and Working Groups
	6. Huncoat Garden Village - Masterplan Framework & Infrastructure Delivery Strategy
	7. Healthy Weight Declaration
	Healthy Weight Declaration - Customer First Analysis


